
 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Finance, Taxation & Economic Development Committee 

 

Douglas Cole, Chair 

Karla Bell, Vice-chair 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

May 12, 2016 

 

Ohio Statehouse 

Room 017 



















































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 

24



 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE  

FINANCE, TAXATION, AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 

OHIO CONSTITUTION 

ARTICLE VIII 

SECTIONS 7, 8, 9, 10, AND 11 

 

THE SINKING FUND AND THE SINKING FUND COMMISSION 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The Finance, Taxation, and Economic Development Committee of the Ohio Constitutional 
Modernization Commission issues this report and recommendation regarding Article VIII of the 
Ohio Constitution concerning the Sinking Fund and the Sinking Fund Commission.  It is issued 
pursuant to Rule 8.2 of the Ohio Constitutional Modernization Commission’s Rules of Procedure 

and Conduct. 
 

Recommendation 

 

The committee recommends that Sections 7 through 11 of Article VIII dealing with the Sinking 

Fund and the duties of the Sinking Fund Commission be repealed for the reason that the state no 

longer utilizes a fund identified as “the Sinking Fund,” and the duties of the Sinking Fund 

Commission are being performed by other state officers and agencies.  These provisions include 

Section 7, creating the Sinking Fund; Section 8, listing the members of the Sinking Fund 

Commission; and Sections 9, 10, and 11, outlining the duties of the Sinking Fund Commission.  

 

Background 

 
Article VIII deals with public debt and public works, and was adopted as part of the 1851 
constitution.  
 
In addition to placing a limitation on the actions of the General Assembly in incurring debt, 
through the adoption of Article VIII, Sections 1, 2, and 3, delegates to the 1851 Constitutional 
Convention also adopted five sections designed to assure that any debt that was incurred by the 
state would be paid off responsibly through the creation and operation of a Sinking Fund.  The 
use of such a fund was a popular method of paying off debt by the states in the 19th century.1  
The five sections that directly relate to the Sinking Fund include Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11. 
 

25



 

 

       OCMC   Ohio Const. Art. VIII, §§7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 
2 

 

 

                 

Section 7 creates the “Sinking Fund” for the purpose of paying accruing interest on public debt. 
This section provides that the fund will annually reduce the principal by a sum of not less than 
$100,000, increased yearly by compounding at six percent per year.  The source of the fund is 
described as the net annual income of the public works and stocks owned by the state, any other 
funds or resources provided by law, and further sums to be raised by taxation as may be required.  
Section 7 provides as follows: 
 

The faith of the state being pledged for the payment of its public debt, in order to 
provide therefor, there shall be created a sinking fund, which shall be sufficient to 
pay the accruing interest on such debt, and, annually, to reduce the principal 
thereof, by a sum not less than one hundred thousand dollars, increased yearly, 
and each and every year, by compounding, at the rate of six per cent per annum. 
The said sinking fund shall consist, of the net annual income of the public works 
and stocks owned by the state, of any other funds or resources that are, or may be, 
provided by law, and of such further sum, to be raised by taxation, as may be 
required for the purposes aforesaid. 

 
Section 8 creates a supervisory body known as “The Commissioners of the Sinking Fund,” 

consisting of the governor, the treasurer of state, the auditor of state, the secretary of state, and 
the attorney general.  Although originally part of the 1851 constitution, the provision was 
amended in 1947 to add the governor and state treasurer to the board.2  Section 8 reads: 
 

The governor, treasurer of state, auditor of state, secretary of state, and attorney 
general, are hereby created a board of commissioners, to be styled, “The 
Commissioners of the Sinking Fund”. 

 

Section 9 prescribes that a biennial report shall be issued by the commissioners before each 
session of the General Assembly.  The report, which is to include information about the amount 
in the fund from all sources except taxation, is to be provided to the governor, who then 
transmits the information to the General Assembly.  Relying on this information, the General 
Assembly is directed to make all necessary provision for raising and disbursing the fund in 
pursuance of the provisions of Article VIII.  Section 9 states: 
 

The commissioners of the sinking fund shall, immediately preceding each regular 
session of the general assembly, make an estimate of the probable amount of the 
fund, provided for in the seventh section of this article, from all sources except 
from taxation, and report the same, together with all their proceedings relative to 
said fund and the public debt, to the governor, who shall transmit the same with 
his regular message, to the general assembly; and the general assembly shall make 
all necessary provision for raising and disbursing said sinking fund, in pursuance 
of the provisions of this article. 

 
Section 10 states that the commissioners shall apply the fund, along with other moneys 
appropriated by the General Assembly, to the payment of interest as due, as well as to the 
redemption of the principal of the public debt.  Section 10 excludes state school and trust funds 
from this directive.  Section 10 provides: 

26



 

 

       OCMC   Ohio Const. Art. VIII, §§7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 
3 

 

 

                 

 
It shall be the duty of the said commissioners faithfully to apply said fund, 
together with all moneys that may be, by the general assembly, appropriated to 
that object, to the payment of the interest, as it becomes due, and the redemption 
of the principal of the public debt of the state, excepting only, the school and trust 
funds held by the state. 

 
Section 11 provides that the commissioners shall issue a semi-annual report describing the 
proceedings of the Sinking Fund Commission, to be published by the governor and 
communicated to the General Assembly. This report is in addition to the biennial report required 
by Section 9.  Pursuant to Section 11: 
 

The said commissioners shall, semi-annually, make a full and detailed report of 
their proceedings to the governor, who shall, immediately, cause the same to be 
published, and shall also communicate the same to the general assembly, 
forthwith, if it be in session, and if not, then at its first session after such report 
shall be made. 

 

Amendments, Proposed Amendments, and Other Review 

 

The five provisions concerning the Sinking Fund Commission were adopted in 1851, with their 
only amendment occurring in 1947, when Article VIII, Section 8, was adopted to add the 
governor and the state treasurer to the commission.3   Therefore, the commission now includes 
all five statewide officeholders. 
 
The Ohio Constitutional Revision Commission (1970s Commission) studied Article VIII in 
depth and made extensive recommendations concerning how the state incurs debt.4  The 1970s 
Commission recommended the repeal of unnecessary provisions concerning the Sinking Fund 
and the Commissioners of the Sinking Fund, explaining: 
 

The Commission proposes the repeal of Sections 7 through 11 of Article VIII, 
which deal with the Commissioners of the Sinking Fund and their duties, and the 
Sinking Fund itself.  Whatever justification these sections might have had at one 
time, in the Commission's view they no longer serve a useful constitutional 
purpose.  The very concept of the sinking fund, in which large sums of money are 
accumulated until they are needed to pay bonds at maturity, has fallen into 
disfavor.  Today, the bond which is the norm for public financing is the serial 
bond: “State and local debt nowadays is almost always in serial form, that is, 
when the debt is incurred, provision is made for annual retirement of the 
principal, so that the annual carrying charge for a twenty-year issue includes a 
sum sufficient to redeem, say, one-twentieth of the principal, as well as a sum of 
interest.” [citing James A. Maxwell, Financing State and Local Governments, rev. 
ed. (Washington, The Brookings Institution, 1969) p. 185.]  However, in 
suggesting the deletion of sections relating to the Sinking Fund, the Commission 
is not suggesting that the General Assembly should not have the power to 
establish either a sinking fund or a sinking fund commission, should it desire to 

27



 

 

       OCMC   Ohio Const. Art. VIII, §§7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 
4 

 

 

                 

do so, and hence Section 1 of the proposed Article VIII would provide ample 
authority to do so.  The deletion of these sections is recommended only because 
the Commission believes that these sections are not needed in the Constitution.5 

 
In November 1977, the General Assembly submitted a ballot issue to the voters that, among 
other changes, proposed repealing Sections 7, 9, and 10 dealing with the Sinking Fund.  
However, voters rejected Issue 4 by a margin of 72.5 percent to 27.5 percent, with an over one 
million vote difference.6 
 

Litigation Involving the Provisions 

 
There has been no litigation directly related to Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11.   
 

Presentations and Resources Considered 

Metcalf Presentations 

 

Seth Metcalf, deputy treasurer and executive counsel for the Ohio Treasurer of State, presented 
to the committee on May 8, 2014, March 12, 2015, and March 10, 2016.  In addition to 
reviewing the history of Article VIII, including the $750,000 debt limitation in Section 1, Mr. 
Metcalf addressed the role of the Sinking Fund Commission.  Originally adopted as a safeguard, 
he said the commission is no longer playing an active role in managing the payment of the debt.  
In fact, Mr. Metcalf noted that the commission has not been an active issuer of state debt since 
2001.  Mr. Metcalf suggested the state should continue to involve the five statewide executive 
officeholders in the debt issuance process, further opining that the constitutional references to the 
Sinking Fund should be replaced with references to the state treasurer, or to the Ohio Public 
Facilities Commission, which currently issues most of the state’s general obligation debt and is 

comprised of those five statewide officeholders and the director of the Office of Budget and 
Management (OBM).7 
 
Keen Presentation 

 
On October 8, 2015, Timothy S. Keen, director of OBM, provided an in-depth analysis of the 
history and purpose of Article VIII, as well as suggestions for modernizing its debt provisions.   
 
For the purpose of improving efficiency, Mr. Keen advocated eliminating Sections 7 through 11.  
He noted that the Commissioners of the Sinking Fund – originally consisting of the attorney 
general, auditor and secretary of state – were established in 1851 to administer a fund that would 
pay-off, or “sink,” the state’s then-existing canal and railroad debt, and to report their activities 
and progress to the governor and General Assembly.  Over the years, the duties of the 
commissioners expanded to include administering and issuing many types of state debt, with the 
governor and treasurer being added to the commission in 1947.  In the 1950s, new state bond 
programs began to use dedicated bond service funds separate from the sinking fund, with debt 
service payments effectuated by the treasurer and OBM.  Then, in 2001, the General Assembly 
transferred bond issuance authority from the commissioners to the Ohio Public Facilities 
Commission.  As a result of these changes, all of the functions historically performed by the 

28



 

 

       OCMC   Ohio Const. Art. VIII, §§7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 
5 

 

 

                 

Commissioners of the Sinking Fund are now performed by other state entities, indicating that the 
sinking fund provisions of Article VIII are viable candidates for repeal.   
 
Azoff Presentation 

 

Jonathan Azoff, director of the Office of Debt Management and senior counsel to the Ohio 
Treasurer of State, presented to the committee on April 14, 2016 regarding the role of his office 
in relation to state debt.   
 
Among the changes recommended for Article VIII, Mr. Azoff proposed the reference to the 
sinking fund in Section 2 should be changed to the word “state.”  He said this recommendation is 

based on the fact that a true “sinking fund” no longer exists.  Mr. Azoff further indicated his 
office supports the repeal of Sections 7 through 11 of Article VIII for the reason that the  state  
no  longer  utilizes  a  sinking  fund, with the  duties  of  the  Sinking  Fund Commission now 
being performed by the treasurer’s office.   However, Mr. Azoff expressed the concern that 
removal of Sections 7 through 11 without replacement language clarifying who should 
perform those same duties would be detrimental to the interests of public accountability.  He 
expressed that the committee’s review provides the opportunity to recommend constitutional 
amendments that would reflect current statutory procedures.  
 
In this regard, Mr. Azoff described that his office performs the ongoing roles and 
responsibilities of the Sinking Fund Commission, including paying debt service on the state’s 
general obligation debt from the Commissioners of the Sinking Fund’s designated bond service 
funds, and fulfilling the treasurer’s reporting role as a member of the Commission of the Sinking 
Fund.  He noted that the Office of Debt Management’s operating expenses are funded through 
the Commissioners of the Sinking Fund GRF line item in the Treasurer of State’s operating 
budget.  As a result, Mr. Azoff urged the committee to recommend the retention of 
constitutional authorization for the performance of the Sinking Fund Commissioners’ duties. 
 

Kauffman Presentation 

 
On April 14, 2016, Kurt Kauffman, acting assistant director of the Office of Budget and 
Management (OBM), appeared before the committee to provide comment related to Article VIII. 
 
Mr. Kauffman said OBM supports the repeal of Sections 7 through 11 of Article VIII, because 
all of the functions historically performed by the Commissioners of the Sinking Fund are now 
defunct or, in the case of the Sinking Fund report required under Section 11, performed by other 
state entities.  Mr. Kauffman reiterated Mr. Keen’s suggestion that the debt reporting 
requirement be replaced by a new provision that would assign necessary debt reporting functions 
to the state treasurer. 
 
Addressing a suggestion by Seth Metcalf, deputy treasurer, that removing the Sinking Fund 
would compromise public accountability in the debt issuance process, Mr. Kauffman said OBM 
does not share that concern, instead acknowledging that the interests of the public are protected 
by the fact that citizens always must approve debt authorization by voting for constitutional 
amendments.  He noted multiple steps that protect public participation, among them that voters 

29























 

8 

 

 

Sec. 17 – Limitations on obligations state may issue (1999) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Proposed Sec. 18 – Outstanding debt or obligation remains in full force and effect (____) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 3.10.16 4.14.16 4.14.16     

 

Article XII – Finance and Taxation 

 

Sec. 1 – Poll taxes prohibited (1851, am. 1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 2 – Limitation on tax rate; exemption (1851, am. 1906, 1912, 1918, 1929, 1933, 1970, 1974, 1990) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 2a – Authority to classify real estate for taxation; procedures (1980) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

  

40



 

9 

 

 

Sec. 3 – Imposition of taxes (1976) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 4 – Revenue to pay expenses and retire debts (1851, am. 1976) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 5 – Levying of taxes (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 5a – Use of motor vehicle license and fuel taxes restricted (1947) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 6 – No debt for internal improvement (1851, am. 1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

 

 

 

41



 

10 

 

 

Sec. 9 – Apportionment of income, estate, and inheritance taxes (1912, am. 1930, 1976) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 11 – Sinking fund (1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 13 – Wholesale taxes on foods (1994) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

  

42



 

11 

 

 

Article XIII - Corporations 

 

Sec. 1 – Special acts conferring corporate powers; prohibited (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 2 – Corporations, how formed (1851, am. 1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 3 – Liability of stockholders for unpaid subscriptions; dues from corporations; how secured; inspection of private banks  

              (1851, am. 1903, 1912, 1937) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 4 – Corporate property subject to taxation (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

43



 

12 

 

 

Sec. 5 – Corporate power of eminent domain to obtain rights of way; procedure; jury trial (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 6 – Organization of cities, etc. (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 7 – Acts authorizing associations with banking powers; referendum (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

44



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 

45



 

 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 
 

 

 

2016 Meeting Dates 
 

June 9 

July 14 

August 11 

September 8 

October 13 

November 10 

December 8 

 


	CRU - Draft Minutes w-Attachment 0172-1 (2016.03.10).pdf
	CRU - Draft Minutes (2016.03.10)
	CRU - Attachment A to Draft Minutes (Art. II, Sec. 1b - Version 2) (2016.03)




